STATEWINE COUNCIL

ON OPIOID
ABATEMENT

MEETING PACKET

Combating the

Opioid Epidemic

See how the State of Florida ving communities by

supporting prevention, treatment, and recovery efforts
statewide.

October 22, 2025



TABLE OF CONTENTS

Section Tab Number
Agenda 1
Meeting Minutes 2

2025 Annual Report SCOA Final Draft 3




Council Members

Attorney General James
Uthmeier
Chair

Sheriff Dennis M. Lemma
Delegate Chair

Secretary Taylor N. Hatch
Vice Chair

Amy Ronshausen
Governor’s Appointee

Major Todd M. Shear
Senate President’s Appointee

Sheriff Robert A. Hardwick
Office of the Speaker’s
Appointee

Commissioner Chris Dougherty
Florida Association of Counties

Commissioner Lee Constantine
Florida Association of Counties

Mayor Keith James
Florida League of Cities
Appointee

Council Member Josh Fuller
Florida League of Cities
Appointee

Vice Mayor Jolien Caraballo
Florida League of Cities
Appointee

Statewide Council on Opioid Abatement

2:00 -2:15

2:15-2:20

2:20 - 2:45

2:45 - 2:55

2:55-3:00

Meeting Agenda
October 22, 2025
2:00 P.M. —3:00 P.M. EST
Virtual Meeting via Microsoft Teams

Welcome/Call Meeting to Order/Opening Remarks
Sheriff Dennis M. Lemma, Delegate Chair

Roll Call and Approval of September 5", 2025, Meeting Minutes
Aaron Platt, DCF Staff Liaison

Annual Legislative Report Review, Discussion, Approval
Sheriff Dennis M. Lemma, Delegate Chair

Public Comment

Closing Remarks
Sheriff Dennis M. Lemma, Delegate Chair



Council Members

Attorney General James
Uthmeier
Chair

Sheriff Dennis M. Lemma
Delegate Chair

Secretary Taylor Hatch
Vice Chair

Amy Ronshausen
Governor’s Appointee

Major Todd M. Shear
Senate President’s
Appointee

Sheriff Robert A. Hardwick
Office of the Speaker’s
Appointee

Commissioner Chris
Dougherty

Florida Association of
Counties Appointee

Commissioner Lee
Constantine

Florida Association of
Counties Appointee

Mayor Keith James
Florida Association of
Counties Appointee

Council Member Josh Fuller

Florida League of Cities
Appointee

Vice Mayor Jolien Caraballo

Florida League of Cities
Appointee

Statewide Council on Opioid Abatement

In-Person Meeting Minutes
September 5, 2025
9:00 A.M. -11:00 A.M. EST

Welcome/Call to Order
The meeting was called to order at 9:00 AM by Delegate Chair, Sheriff Dennis M. Lemma.
Roll call was taken by Aaron Platt.

Attendance Summary

Sheriff Dennis M. Lemma, Delegate Chair

Secretary Taylor Hatch, Vice Chair

Major Todd Shear, President’s Appointee

Sheriff Robert Hardwick, Office of the Speaker’s Appointee
Commissioner Chris Dougherty, Florida Association of Counties
Commissioner Lee Constantine, Florida Association of Counties
Mayor Keith James, Florida League of Cities Appointee

Council Member Josh Fuller, Florida League of Cities Appointee
Vice Mayor Jolien Caraballo, Florida League of Cities Appointee

Roll Call and Approval of May 7, 2025 Meeting Minutes

Roll call was taken by Aaron Platt. Quorum was met. A motion was entered to approve the
May 7, 2025 meeting minutes. The meeting minutes were approved with no opposition.
Motion: Sheriff Robert Hardwick

Second: Major Todd Shear

Keynote: Opioid State of the State

Dr. Mark Stavros, M.D. Florida State University-College of Medicine presented on
Confronting the Opioid Epidemic: Trends, Impacts, and Pathways to Recovery in Florida and
the U.S. Dr. Stavros presented information to the Council regarding the drivers of the opioid
crisis, national trends, data on overdoses and deaths resulting from overdose. Included in the
presentation were data specific to the state of Florida regarding prescriptions for opioid
naloxone administration, Emergency Department data and access to treatment. Dr. Stavros also
discussed key drivers of opioid abatement which includes increased access to medications for
opioid use disorder (MOUD), increased naloxone distribution, education, interdiction, housing
and support services, behavioral health services and transportation.

Chair Delegate Sheriff Lemma proposes the empowerment of the patient-doctor relationship in
all three forms of the MOUD. Chair Lemma also suggested coordinating a meeting between all
independent state councils making decisions and recommendations on opioid settlement funds
together for a collaboration summit.

Vice Chair Secretary Taylor Hatch proposes the Department of Children and Families (DCF)
in conjunction with the Council on Opioid Abatement and the Department of Health (DOH)
explore additional opportunities for ensuring critical information is available to those serving
and treating citizens including doctors, schools, etc. The Facts Your Future was mentioned as
an example.

Other possibilities discussed for assisting with abating the Opioid crisis include, housing
support, transportation to treatment, expanding the Prescription Drug Monitoring Program past



Statewide Council on Opioid Abatement

wo Yyears, opioid training in school curriculum, and examining what other states are doing differently that is
working

Embedding First Responder Resilience and Readiness in the Opioid Abatement Framework

Dr. Kellie O’Dare, Deputy Executive Director-UCF Restores provided an in-depth review of the program which
focuses on clinical research and treatment, specializing in first responders and veterans. The UCF Restores
program provides evidence-based treatment for post-traumatic stress disorder and other mental health challenges,
while training peer support specialists and a proficient mental health workforce for first responders. The 2" Alarm
Project @ UCF Restores focuses on enhancing the behavioral health and resilience of first responders through
comprehensive programs and innovative resources tailored to the unique needs of the public safety community.
Dr. O’Dare discussed trends in mental health and substance use disorder within the first responder profession
noting studies have revealed a high prevalence of psychological strain among EMS, law enforcement and fire
service personnel who respond to opioid related incidents.

Council Members discussed the impact the opioid crisis has had on first responders across the state of Florida.

Review and Discussion of the 2025 Statewide Council on Opioid Abatement Report Recommendations
William Hardin, Deputy Assistant Secretary for DCF-Office of Substance Abuse and Mental Health reviewed the
Statewide Council on Opioid Abatement Draft 2025 Annual Report Recommendations which are required to be
published by December 1, 2025. There are twelve draft recommendations that center on county sustainability
plans, the use of opioid settlement funds, awareness campaigns, access to naloxone, human trafficking survivors,
prenatal opioid screenings, resources for parents of opioid exposed children, data sharing agreements to maximize
the use of surveillance data, the peer recovery workforce, access to residential treatment services for women,
evidenced-based jail re-entry programs and, stable housing for families receiving treatment or recovery support
services.

Chair Delegate Sheriff Lemma requested that references to MAT be changed to MOUD to reflect current
practices and terminology. Chair Lemma also suggest adding recommendations for trauma informed care.

The Council unanimously approved the report through a motion from Council member Sheriff Robert Hardwick,
which was seconded by Council member Vice Mayor Jolien Caraballo.

Public Comment
Lynette Serlo, Generation O, expressed her support for the work of the Council and the draft recommendations
put forth. Ms. Serlo also advocated for additional focus on children born with prenatal opioid exposure.

Neal McGarry, CEO Florida Certification Board expressed his support for the draft recommendations
Closing Remarks

Sheriff Lemma provided closing remarks, thanking Attorney General James Uthmeier for his leadership. The
meeting adjourned at approximately 11:15 AM.



Statewide Council on Opioid Abatement
2025 Annual Report

December 1, 2025



Table of Contents

ACKNOWIEAGEMENTS ..o 3
Message from the Chair and Delegated Chair.............cccccuvviiiiiiiiiiiiiniinnnns 4
EXECULIVE SUMIMAIY ...t e e 5

Lo L0 To 1¥ o3 1 o o PP 6

The Status of the Opioid Epidemic in Florida..........ccooooeeiiii, 8

Opioid Mortality and Morbidity Data ............ccoovuiiiiiiiiieeeiecce e 8
Naloxone Distribution and AdmINIStration............cooeeeeiiiiiiiie e 11
Opioid Prescriptions Sold in Florida .............ocoiiiiiiii i 12
Incidence of Neonatal Abstinence Syndrome...............eeveeeiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiienennns 12
Adolescent Opioid MISUSE TreNdS.........ooouuiiiiiiii e e e eaanns 13
Florida’s Opioid Abatement Expenditures & Priority Initiatives ................ 15
Distribution of Opioid Settlement Funds by Category ..........ccccovvviviieeeiieeeeiennnns 15
S = LN U T 16
City/County FUNG ... 26
RegIONal FUN.........oiiiii e e e et e e e e e e eeanes 28
Community Highlights: Opioid Abatement Funds for Positive Change ............ 30
ReCOMMENALIONS .coiiiiiiiiiiiiieieeee e 32

2| Page



Acknowledgements

Council Members

Attorney General James Uthmeier
Chairperson, Governor Appointee

Sheriff Dennis M. Lemma
Delegated Chair

Sheriff Robert A. Hardwick

Office of the Speaker of the House Appointee

Vice Mayor Jolien Caraballo Florida
League of Cities Appointee

Commissioner Lee Constantine
General Board Member

Mayor Keith James
Florida League of Cities Appointee

Secretary Taylor N. Hatch

Vice Chairperson, Governor Appointee

Amy Ronshausen
Governor Appointee

Major Todd Michael Shear Senate
President’s Appointee

Vice Mayor Josh Fuller
Florida League of Cities Appointee

Commissioner Chris Dougherty
General Board Member

3|Page



Message from the Chair and Delegated Chair

4| Page



Executive Summary

Pursuant to Section 397.335, Florida Statutes, this 2025 Annual Report is submitted on
behalf of the Statewide Council on Opioid Abatement.

Florida continues to show progress in reducing opioid-related mortality, with opioid-
related deaths declining 26 percent from 2023 to 2024 and opioid-caused deaths
declining 32 percent. Although these outcomes reflect measurable progress, the
Department and its partners remain committed to sustaining momentum, reducing
overdose fatalities, and strengthening recovery pathways statewide.

In Fiscal Year 2024-2025, $273.6 million in opioid settlement funds were allocated across
Florida to support evidence-based prevention, treatment, and recovery initiatives. These
investments have helped expand access to behavioral health services, enhance
overdose prevention, and build a recovery-oriented system of care. The following
highlights summarize the measurable outcomes achieved through these initiatives:

e Distribution of over 767,000 naloxone kits, with more than 16,000 reported
overdose reversals.

o Expansion of the Coordinated Opioid Recovery (CORE) Network statewide,
serving 28,470 individuals with opioid use disorder (OUD), 62 percent of whom
received medications for opioid use disorder (MOUD).

« Strengthening of Florida’s peer recovery workforce, with $8.25 million appropriated
to expand Recovery Community Organizations (RCOs) and train 69 new peer
specialists, resulting in 4,400 peer support services delivered statewide.

o Delivery of nearly 295,000 behavioral health service events to over 6,200
Floridians, as reported through the Opioid Data Management System (ODMS),
spanning assessment, outpatient, residential, and case management services for
opioid use disorder and co-occurring conditions.

In 2025, the Council developed fourteen recommendations to guide the continued use of
settlement funds, emphasizing sustainability, data-driven coordination, workforce
development, housing supports, and efficient access to treatment and recovery services.
These recommendations are provided in the concluding section of this report

Florida’s comprehensive, collaborative approach is producing measurable results,
reducing overdose deaths, expanding access to lifesaving medications, and
strengthening the behavioral health continuum of care. The Statewide Council on Opioid
Abatement remains committed to ensuring that settlement funds are utilized effectively
to support measurable and sustainable recovery outcomes for Floridians affected by the
opioid crisis.

This draft is for discussion and editing purposes only. 5|Page



Introduction
The Opioid Settlement Trust Fund

The purpose of the Opioid Settlement Trust Fund is to abate the opioid epidemic in
accordance with settlement agreements reached by the state in opioid-related litigation
or bankruptcy proceedings, namely the Florida Opioid Allocation and Statewide
Response Agreement between the State of Florida (Department of Legal Affairs) and
Certain Local Governments. Opioid settlement funds may only be used for approved
purposes, which include, but are not limited to, prevention, treatment, and recovery
support services and opioid abatement strategies listed in Schedule A (Core Strategies)
and Schedule B (Approved Uses) from the Florida Opioid Allocation and Statewide
Response Agreement.

The Statewide Council on Opioid Abatement

The Statewide Council on Opioid Abatement (Council) is responsible for enhancing the
development and coordination of state and local efforts to abate the opioid epidemic and
to support the victims and families of the crisis. The Council is required to review how
opioid settlement funds were spent, advise state and local governments on the results
achieved, and provide recommendations for how funds should be prioritized in the future.

The Council is composed of 10 members, including the chair — Florida Attorney General,
James Uthmeier, — who delegates chair duties to Seminole County Sheriff Dennis
Lemma, and the Secretary of the Florida Department of Children and Families
(Department), Secretary Taylor N. Hatch, who serves as vice chair.

Beginning on December 1 of each year, the Council presents an annual report on how
the Opioid Settlement funds were spent during the previous year by the state, Managing
Entities, counties, and municipalities. The report must also contain recommendations to
the Governor, the Legislature, and local governments on how Opioid Settlement funds
should be prioritized and spent in the coming year.

By June 30 of each year, each county, municipality, Managing Entity, or state agency that
receives funds from the opioid settlement must provide information to the Council stating
how it plans to use settlement funds and how it plans to collect data related to its use of
funds, pursuant to section (s.) 397.335(4)(e), Florida Statutes (F.S.).

By August 31 of each year, each county, municipality, Managing Entity, or state agency
that receives funds from the opioid settlement must provide information to the Council
stating how the funds were spent and the results related to how those funds were spent,
pursuant to s. 397.335(4)(f), F.S.

According to s. 397.335(4)(b), F.S., the Council is required to work with, and receive
information from, the Statewide Drug Policy Advisory Council (DPAC), and ensure that
its recommendations and actions are consistent with DPAC. DPAC is chaired by the State
Surgeon General, Joseph A. Ladapo, and features 19 members, including appointed

This draft is for discussion and editing purposes only. 6|Page



members with expertise in drug enforcement, prevention, treatment, and faith-based
services. The Council stands ready to review and assess any information and
recommendations that become available through future DPAC meetings and
publications.

2025 Council Presentation Overview

Over the past year, the Statewide Council on Opioid Abatement received a series of
presentations that informed and shaped its recommendations. Across three meetings,
presenters addressed key topics including regional opioid response strategies, maternal
and child health impacts, justice-involved populations, and workforce resilience.
Collectively, these discussions reinforced the importance of a coordinated approach to
prevention, treatment, and recovery.

On March 11, 2025, presenters from Florida’s Northeast region shared initiatives funded
by opioid settlement dollars, with a focus on expanding access to treatment and recovery
services. Citrus County highlighted the continued focus on its CORE program and access
to counseling, respite care, safe housing, peer support, case management, and trauma-
informed services for youth with opioid use disorder (OUD) and their families. The City of
Jacksonville reported efforts to identify individuals at risk for OUD through screenings,
expand youth afterschool programming, increase access to MOUD and primary care, and
reduce barriers to treatment through supportive housing, workforce development, and
alternative transportation options such as UberHealth. ACE Medical presented its ATRAC
Program (Addiction, Treatment, Recovery, Access, and Counseling), which delivers
consistent wraparound addiction and primary care services.

On May 7, 2025, the Council heard presentations on Neonatal Abstinence Syndrome
(NAS), Early Childhood Court (ECC), and Jail-Based Medication-Assisted Treatment
(MAT). While progress has been made in addressing NAS, presenters emphasized the
need for continued attention to affected infants and their families. ECC data revealed that
over 80 percent of child removals involved substance use, with 24 percent linked to
opioids, highlighting the need for early intervention and family-centered support. The Jail-
Based MAT presentation underscored the importance of initiating and sustaining MOUD
for incarcerated individuals, along with education, wellness programming, relapse
prevention, and reentry aftercare services.

At the September 5, 2025, meeting, Council members received a comprehensive
overview of Florida’s OUD epidemiology and key abatement strategies. Presenters
emphasized the role of expanded MOUD access and naloxone distribution in reducing
opioid-related harm. A presentation on first responder resilience highlighted the
importance of maintaining a healthy and supported workforce as a critical component of
Florida’s opioid response infrastructure.

Additional details, including meeting agendas and presentation materials, are available
on the Florida Opioid Settlement webpage: https://floridaopioidsettlement.com/meetings/

This draft is for discussion and editing purposes only. 7|Page


https://floridaopioidsettlement.com/meetings/
https://floridaopioidsettlement.com/meetings/

The Status of the Opioid Epidemic in Florida

According to the most recently published estimates reflecting combined data from 2022-
2023, approximately 2 percent of the general household population in Florida ages 12
and older (or about 389,000 individuals) experienced an Opioid Use Disorder (OUD) in
the past year. Opioid misuse, defined as using heroin or prescription pain relievers without
a doctor's orders, was even more prevalent, affecting approximately 3 percent, (or
587,000 individuals) during the same period.! These figures exclude high-risk populations
such as individuals who are unhoused and not using shelters, or those in jails and
hospitals. To address these limitations — including underreporting of stigmatized or
criminalized behaviors — researchers incorporate additional data sources such as health
care records, death certificates, EMS incidents, and prescription drug monitoring
programs. Based on these methods, the true prevalence of OUD is estimated to be 4.5
times higher than household survey data suggest.? Both opioid misuse and OUD
substantially increase the risk of nonfatal and fatal overdose, underscoring the continued
urgency of Florida’s statewide prevention and treatment efforts.3

Opioid Mortality and Morbidity Data

The Florida Medical Examiners Commission (MEC) publishes both annual and interim
Drugs Identified in Deceased Persons reports, which serve as the state’s primary source
for drug-related mortality data. Within these reports, an opioid present death indicates
that one or more opioids were present, whereas an opioid-caused death confirms opioids
as a primary cause.

In 2024, Florida recorded 5,378 opioid-related deaths, a 26 percent decrease from the
previous year. Of these, 3,726 were opioid-caused, a 32 percent decline from 2023.
Florida’s peak occurred in 2021 with 8,411 opioid-related deaths and 6,442 opioid-caused
deaths; by 2024, these totals had declined by 36 percent and 42 percent, respectively.
These sustained reductions indicate continued progress in reducing opioid mortality
statewide.

Figure 1: Total Annual Opioid-Present and Opioid-Caused Deaths, 2014-2024
8,411

7,842 8,012
o6 7,235
(2]
E= cops B8 6,128 1753 1,855
g , 5,576 L7589 54378
o 1,898 1,834
2 4,242 1,803 ’ ’
T 3679 1,849 1,652
&
v 1,704 6,442
T 1712 6,089 6157 ¢ 46
a 3922 4280 5.5, 4,294 3,726
2,538

1,967

2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023 2024

Opioid-Caused Opioid Present

This draft is for discussion and editing purposes only. 8|Page



The use of fentanyl and stimulants predominates in the current stage of the opioid
epidemic in Florida. The drugs that caused the most deaths in 2023 were fentanyl (4,962),
cocaine (2,377), and methamphetamine (2,682). With respect to co-use, stimulants were
identified as a contributing factor in 56 percent of all opioid-caused deaths in 2023.

Figure 2: Total Annual Deaths Involving Opioids, Fentanyl, and Fentanyl with
Stimulants, 2014-2023

. 2,180 1,993 -
2,217

&2 1,760
)
@
o
(a]
o
.3 3,611 3,629
k-
0 1,002
o
(®) 782 1,842
et 1,346
961
384 730
153 321
2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023
Fentanyl with Stimulants Fentanyl without Stimulants M Opioid without Fentanyl

Emergency Medical Service Responses for Suspected Opioid Overdoses

Provisional 2024 data from the Florida Department of Health indicate that Emergency
Medical Services (EMS) responded to 82,805 suspected drug overdose incidents
statewide. Of these, 23,859 responses (29 percent) involved suspected opioid-related
overdoses.

Compared to 2023, this represents a 19 percent decrease in total EMS responses to
suspected drug overdoses and a 24 percent decrease in those involving suspected
opioids. Although these figures are subject to revision as reporting is finalized, the
preliminary trend suggests continued progress in reducing overdose-related emergencies
across Florida. It is important to acknowledge that EMS paramedicine programs are
saving lives by expanding beyond overdose reversals and transports to the emergency
department. Several groundbreaking paramedicine programs are starting patients on a
path to recovery by initiating buprenorphine treatment in the field, including Clay County
Fire Rescue, Escambia County Fire Rescue, Hernando County Fire Rescue, the City of
Gainesville, Alachua County Fire Rescue, and Marion County Fire Rescue.

This draft is for discussion and editing purposes only. 9|Page



Figure 3: Total EMS Reponses to Suspected Opioid Overdoses, 2018-2024

Total EMS Responses to Suspected

Opioid Overdoses

42,380
40,544
36,210
14,884
11,820 I
2018 2019 2020 2021 2022

m Opioid-Involved Overdoses

36,163

23,859

2023 2024

Emergency Department Visits and Inpatient Hospitalizations for Non-Fatal
Opioid Overdoses

Provisional 2024 data from the Florida Department of Health indicate that there were
31,016 emergency department (ED) visits and 26,601 inpatient hospitalizations (IP) for
nonfatal drug overdoses statewide. Of these, 9,375 ED visits and 7,183 hospitalizations,
representing 30 percent and 27 percent respectively, involved opioids.

Figure 4: Emergency Department and Inpatient Encounters for Opioid-Involved
Overdoses, 2018-2024

Total Opioid-Involved ED & IP

Encounters

23,540
21,277
19,782
16,802
14,396 15,066
9,375
8,443 8,305 8,719
2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023 2024

H Opioid-Involved ED Encounters Opioid-Involved IP Encounters

Compared to 2023, these preliminary figures reflect a 21 percent decrease in total
nonfatal drug overdose ED visits and a 38 percent decrease in opioid-involved nonfatal
ED visits. In contrast, total hospitalizations for nonfatal drug overdoses increased by 8.3

This draft is for discussion and editing purposes only. 10| Page



percent, while opioid-involved hospitalizations declined by 18 percent. Although these
data are subject to revision as reporting is finalized, the emerging trend suggests a
continued decline in opioid-related emergencies, even as overall drug-related hospital
utilization shows signs of stabilization.

Naloxone Distribution and Administration

In 2024, naloxone was used to reverse more than 16,000 opioid overdoses across
Florida, based on reports submitted through the Department’'s Overdose Prevention
Program. These overdose reversals were reported by authorized naloxone distributors
participating in the program. That same year, the Department distributed 767,931
naloxone kits through its Overdose Prevention Program, representing an 89 percent
increase compared to the previous year.

Table 1: Naloxone Distribution and Overdose Reversals, 2018-2024

Year Number .Of Naloxone Kits Number of Reported Overdose
Distributed Reversals
2018 18,898 1,466
2019 36,703 1,592
2020 69,557 4,434
2021 132,269 7,860
2022 191,225 11,132
2023 405,392 16,352
2024 767,931 16,324

As a result of ongoing statewide initiatives, naloxone, a fast-acting medication that
reverses the effects of opioid overdose by blocking opioid receptors, has become
increasingly accessible. This expansion reflects Florida’s commitment to reducing opioid-
related fatalities and aligns with the opioid abatement strategies supported by the Opioid
Settlement. Its widespread availability remains a critical component of the state’s
overdose prevention and response efforts.

Extensive research underscores the effectiveness and safety of expanding access. A
national population-based study found that states enacting naloxone access laws
experienced no increase in nonmedical opioid or heroin use and saw a 14 percent
reduction in opioid-overdose death rates.* Furthermore, individuals living in areas with
greater naloxone availability have 5 percent lower odds of reporting heroin use compared
to those with limited or no access.®> Additionally, a systematic review of seven studies
involving 2,578 participants found no evidence that naloxone distribution increases opioid
or other substance use. Within that review, one study reported a reduction in heroin use
from 89 percent to 63 percent, while another observed a decline in daily use.®

This draft is for discussion and editing purposes only. 11| Page



Opioid Prescriptions Sold in Florida

Data from the Florida Department of Health indicate a sustained decline in prescription
opioid dispensing statewide. Between 2017 and 2024, the number of opioid prescriptions
filled decreased by 27.9 percent, from approximately 16.2 million prescriptions to 11.7
million, demonstrating sustained progress in reducing opioid dispensing statewide.

Figure 5: Total Annual Opioid Prescriptions Sold in Florida, 2017-2024

16.2

£ 15.4
° 13.6
- 12.9
@ - 122 12 117
n
K=
o 2
Q 0
o=
3
2
o
o
(/2]
o
o
2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023 2024
Opioid Rx

This shift aligns with broader efforts to reduce the availability of opioids through legal
channels and promote safer prescribing practices. Central to these efforts is Florida’'s
Prescription Drug Monitoring Program (PDMP), known as E-FORCSE®. Managed by the
Florida Department of Health, E-FORCSE® provides healthcare providers with access to
critical information that supports informed prescribing decisions, helps prevent misuse,
and enhances patient safety.

Incidence of Neonatal Abstinence Syndrome

Neonatal Abstinence Syndrome (NAS) refers to a group of withdrawal symptoms that
occur in newborns who were exposed to opioids in utero. A decline in NAS rates may
indicate progress in reducing opioid use during pregnancy and improving maternal and
infant health outcomes.

According to data from the Florida Department of Health, the state experienced a 32
percent reduction in the rate of NAS between 2017 and 2022. The rate declined from 67.2
cases per 10,000 live births in 2017 to 41.8 per 10,000 live births in 2022, reflecting a
consistent downward trend in NAS incidence statewide.

This draft is for discussion and editing purposes only. 12 |Page



Figure 6: Total Annual Cases and Rates of NAS in Florida, 2015-2022

67.3 65.8 67.2

1,510 1,480 1,503

1,375

1,238

Incidence of NAS

1,121
934 935

2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022

Count  e====Rate per 10,000 Births

County-level rates of NAS vary substantially across Florida, ranging from 7.1 to 268.5
cases per 10,000 live births. Higher rates in some counties can often reflect small
population sizes rather than higher overall case counts. For instance, in Bradford County,
the 2022 NAS rate of 268.5 per 10,000 live births corresponds to eight infants diagnosed
with NAS. In smaller counties, rates may fluctuate considerably from year to year due to
low birth volumes, shifts in hospital or birthing unit availability, population changes, and
other local factors.

Recognizing the importance of maintaining maternal-infant attachment, Florida continues
to emphasize keeping mothers and young children together whenever possible during
both inpatient hospital stays and residential treatment. However, a recent survey of 23
residential treatment programs statewide found that only five programs currently have the
capacity to serve mothers with children ages 0-5, highlighting an opportunity to expand
family-centered treatment options.

Adolescent Opioid Misuse Trends

According to data from the Florida Youth Substance Abuse Survey (FYSAS), between
2014 and 2025, Florida experienced a 76 percent decline in youth-reported past 30-day
misuse of prescription opioid pain relievers. Past 30-day misuse rates fell from 2.1 percent
to 0.5 percent, while lifetime misuse declined by approximately 73 percent, dropping from
5.5 percent to 1.5 percent. These sustained reductions highlight a significant downward
trend in youth-reported prescription opioid misuse across the state.

This draft is for discussion and editing purposes only. 13| Page



Figure 7: Adolescent Prescription Pain Reliever Misuse Rates, 2014-2025

5.5
5.3

4.8 | ifetime Misuse Past 30-Day Misuse

2.1
1.8

Pain Reliever Misuse Rate (%)

2014 2015 201 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023 2024 2025

The remainder of this page was intentionally left blank.

This draft is for discussion and editing purposes only. 14 |Page



Florida’s Opioid Abatement Expenditures & Priority
Initiatives

Opioid Settlement funds are allocated through three primary funding streams: the State
Fund, the Regional Fund, City/County Fund. Counties may receive allocations from both
the City/County Fund and the Regional Fund, depending on their eligibility and
participation. This multi-tiered funding structure is designed to ensure comprehensive and
equitable distribution of settlement resources across the state.

The State of Florida is currently at various stages of implementation across these funding
streams, reflecting a phased and coordinated approach to deploying Opioid Settlement
funds effectively.

FLORIDA OPIOID
SETTLEMENT FUNDS

$3.1 Billion Over 18 Years
I

REGIONAL

FUND

General
Appropriations
Act /
S —

Department of
Children and
Families

General
Appropriations
Act
A

Department of
Children and
EES

Departent of
Financial
Services

Opioid
Administrator

—

Counties and
Municipalities

_[_
Qualified
Counties

Managing
Entities

Non-Qualified
Counties

< v

Distribution of Opioid Settlement Funds by Category

The different subtypes of opioid settlement funding by category for the initial three-year
period are shown in the table below. While funds are distributed based on these
categories, as well as by city and county, local governments have the option to voluntarily
transfer or pool resources with other jurisdictions for coordinated distribution and
oversight. In accordance with the Florida Opioid Allocation and Statewide Response

This draft is for discussion and editing purposes only. 15| Page



Agreement, counties and municipalities may pool, comingle, or otherwise transfer their
allocated funds to another jurisdiction, provided such arrangements are formalized
through a written agreement.

Table 2: Opioid Settlement Funding by Category

Funding Category FY 2022-2023 FY 2023-2024 FY 2024-2025 FY 2025-2026

State Funds N/A $153,631,856  $163,223,856 $75,197,648

Regional Funds for

Qualified Counties $135,559,681 $64,005,081 $69,012,661 $70,865,922

Regional Funds for
Non-Qualified N/A $33,897,266 $16,220,944 $17,808,850
Counties

City/County Funds $21,340,784 $47,974,685 $25,160,680 $26,086,747

Note: The previous report listed total settlement funding of $205,721,243 for FY 2023-2024, while the current report
reflects $153,631,856. The Department originally requested $205,721,243 across Legislative Budget Requests (LBRS)
for FY 2023-2024 but was appropriated $153,631,856 in the FY 2023-2024 General Appropriations Act (GAA).

Similarly, the previous report listed $85,053,320 for FY 2024-2025, while the current report updates this figure to
$163,223,856. This revised total reflects the complete opioid settlement appropriations in the FY 2024-2025 GAA,
inclusive of both recurring and nonrecurring budget authority.

State Fund

State funds are allocated to comprehensively address the multifaceted challenges
associated with OUD and its broader societal impacts. This approach encompasses a
coordinated strategy that includes primary intervention, evidence-based treatment,
research, workforce development, and the integration of technology. Through the
alignment of these components, the initiative aims to provide individuals affected by OUD
with access to the most effective resources and support systems available. This
integrated model is intended to enhance the likelihood of successful treatment outcomes,
support sustained recovery, and improve overall quality of life.

The State’s plan maintains ongoing investments in priority initiatives first established in
FY 2023-2024. These initiatives continue to serve as core components of Florida’s
comprehensive response to the opioid crisis.

This draft is for discussion and editing purposes only. 16 | Page



Table 3: Allocation of State Initiatives

State Initiative

FY 2024-2025

FY 2025-2026

Allocation Allocation

Office of Opioid Recovery $4,404,410 $4,510,702
Primary Prevention and Media Campaigns $18,000,000 $22,453,150
Overdo_se Prevention Through Naloxone $6,502,352 $11,502,352
Saturation

CORE Network $31,804,964 $31,804,964
Court Diversion $7,000,000 $7,000,000
On-Demand, Mobile MOUD $6,000,000 $6,000,000
Jail-Based MOUD $2,000,000 $2,000,000
Hospital Bridge Programs $4,000,000 $4,000,000
Peer Supports and Recovery-Community $8,250,000 $10,500,000
Organizations

Recovery Housing $14,220,560 $14,220,560
Applied Research $2,000,000 $4,000,000
SpeC|aI_|zed Training in Graduate Medical $4.036,031 $4.066,854
Education

Online Bed Availability System $1,000,000 $1,650,000
Local Projects $11,167,872 $14,543,000
Statewide Integrated Data System $5,000,000 $5,000,000
Treatment and Recovery Support Services $24,677,391 $26,541,309

Note: The previous report listed $18,220,560 for Recovery Housing, while the current report reflects $14,220,560. The
Department maintains a recurring budget of $8,720,560 and submitted a nonrecurring Legislative Budget Request
(LBR) of $9,500,000. Although the Legislature approved the full $18,220,560 allocation, the Department re-purposed
$4,000,000 in nonrecurring funds to support unfunded local/proviso projects, as required under the FY 2024-2025
General Appropriations Act (GAA). Additionally, while the 2024 report listed $7,567,872 for local/proviso projects, some
local/proviso projects were excluded, so amount above for FY 2024-2025 now reflects the total appropriated budget for
all settlement-funded local/proviso projects.

Office of Opioid Recovery

The Office of Opioid Recovery, within the department’s Office of Substance Abuse and
Mental Health, was established in 2023 through a recurring appropriation from the Opioid
Settlement Trust Fund. The Office of Opioid Recovery administers opioid settlement
funds, analyzes opioid-related trends and conditions, evaluates the impact of opioid
abatement activities, and provides analytic support to the Statewide Council on Opioid
Abatement. The Office of Opioid Recovery at the Department consists of 26 employees,
including research analysts, epidemiologists, clinical consultants, contract managers,

This draft is for discussion and editing purposes only. 17 |Page



supervisors, and assistants. The Office oversees the statewide initiatives described in this
report, ensuring that settlement-funded strategies are implemented effectively and
aligned with Florida’s comprehensive opioid response framework.

Primary Prevention and Media Campaigns

First Lady Casey DeSantis’ The Facts. Your Future. is Florida’s statewide prevention
initiative that empowers youth to make informed, healthy choices, and avoid the dangers
of substance use. The program educates youth about the harms of substance use,
including fentanyl, opioids, marijuana, alcohol, and vaping, through a standardized
curriculum, school assemblies, and parent and community toolkits. This comprehensive
approach to prevention is essential because research shows that prevention programs
must be equipped to address an underlying general tendency toward the use of many
substances among some students.” In 2024, among the 2 percent of Florida high school
students that ever misused an opioid (prescription pain relievers or heroin) in their lifetime,
the use of other substances was common, with about 28 percent ever using stimulants,
67 percent ever using marijuana, and 75 percent ever using alcohol. The curriculum
centers on three pillars: (1) knowing the facts and understanding risks, (2) building coping
skills, and (3) fostering healthy relationships. Lessons are available online through
Florida’s official site for course standards for educators, with printed copies distributed to
all 67 school districts in November 2024. TheFactsYourFuture.org offers downloadable
toolkits, videos, and fact sheets for educators, parents, and community leaders. To
facilitate a collaborative and active approach to engage the community, the Department
of Children and Families used a competitive Request for Applications and awarded grants
to five projects that will span 50 counties and implement school-based interventions, peer
mentorship opportunities, parental engagement initiatives, and public awareness
campaigns. Over 99 student assemblies have reached more than 60,000 students
statewide. The impact of The Facts. Your Future is being gauged through a new item
added to the Florida Youth Substance Abuse Survey, assessing awareness of The Facts.
Your Future. prevention campaign. In 2025, about 28 percent of middle and high school
students reported having seen or heard of The Facts. Your Future.

Overdose Prevention Through Naloxone Saturation

The Department of Children and Families’ (Department) Overdose Prevention Program
provides naloxone kits, educational materials, and training to prevent, recognize, and
respond appropriately to an opioid overdose. Naloxone, an FDA-approved emergency
opioid antagonist, rapidly reverses the effects of an overdose and has become a
cornerstone of Florida’s public health response. The program offers multiple intranasal
formulations to ensure flexibility and availability across diverse community settings,
focusing on reaching individuals within the community most at risk of experiencing or
witnessing an opioid overdose through a comprehensive network of naloxone distribution
providers. This network includes all 67 county health departments, hospital emergency
departments and maternity units, federally qualified health centers, shelters, recovery
residences, and other community-based organizations.

This draft is for discussion and editing purposes only. 18 |Page



Coordinated Opioid Recovery (CORE) Network

Florida has significantly expanded the Coordinated Opioid Recovery (CORE) Network, a
statewide system that connects individuals to comprehensive, integrated care for opioid
use disorder (OUD). The CORE Network now serves all 67 counties across Florida,
facilitating efficient treatment engagement and ensuring continuity of care across both
emergency and long-term services.

At the frontline of overdose response, the CORE model incorporates specialized
Emergency Medical Services (EMS) protocols that enable direct transport to emergency
department—based addiction stabilization centers. These centers are staffed by clinicians
trained in addiction medicine and equipped to initiate treatment with buprenorphine,
ensuring rapid engagement in care following an overdose or acute withdrawal episode.

In FY 2024-2025, EMS reported 55,944 overdose-related calls statewide, of which 17,267
were identified as OUD specific responses. Through coordination within the CORE
Network, 10,997 individuals were safely transported to emergency departments or
participating clinics for stabilization and linkage to care. Once engaged, individuals
receive comprehensive, evidence-based treatment tailored to their recovery needs.
Preliminary data show that CORE served 28,470 individuals with OUD in FY 2024- 2025,
with 17,555, 62 percent, receiving Medication for Opioid Use Disorder (MOUD).
Nationwide, among the general household population, only about 18 percent of adults
with OUD receive MOUD.8

Court Diversion

The Department partners with court systems and diversion programs in each circuit
throughout Florida to treat individuals with opioid use disorder (OUD), substance use
disorders (SUD) and co-occurring mental health conditions as an alternative to
incarceration. The Court Diversion Program diverts individuals from jail or prison into
treatment and recovery services, providing evidence-based care and comprehensive
wraparound supports aimed at reducing recidivism, improving behavioral health
outcomes, and integrating participants into a Recovery-Oriented System of Care (ROSC).
Each program includes a multidisciplinary team consisting of a Screener or Transition
Specialist, Clinician, Care Coordinator, and Peer Support Specialist to ensure
coordinated care and continuity of treatment. Services began in December 2024, with the
final contract taking effect in February 2025. This three-year initiative is funded across
multiple fiscal years and is operating in 13 counties to serve approximately 3,030
individuals statewide.

Mobile and On-Demand Medication for Opioid Use Disorder

The Department is expanding access to medications for opioid use disorder (MOUD)
through mobile and on-demand delivery models that provide rapid, flexible care to
individuals with opioid use disorder (OUD), particularly those who are homeless or living
in hard-to-reach areas such as rural counties. Mobile MOUD units offer onsite
assessments, recovery support services, and same-day buprenorphine induction through
telemedicine and in-person visits, connecting individuals to immediate care via onsite

This draft is for discussion and editing purposes only. 19 | Page



peer specialists and licensed providers. Services are being implemented across 10
counties through contracts with Pathways to Wellness Foundation, Agency for
Community Treatment Services (ACTS), Nassau County Alcoholism and Drug Abuse
Council, Inc. (Starting Point Behavioral Healthcare), WestCare GulfCoast Florida, Inc.,
and Aspire Health Partners, with a target of serving approximately 1,000 individuals
statewide.

Jail-Based Medications for Opioid Use Disorder (MOUD)

The Jail-Based Medication for Opioid Use Disorder (Jail Bridge) Program supports the
implementation of MOUD services in local jails to reduce relapse, recidivism, and
overdose risk among incarcerated individuals. The program provides early intervention
for high-risk inmates, including those who were receiving MOUD prior to incarceration,
ensuring continuity of care and linkage to community-based services upon release.
Services are being delivered through competitively procured contracts with Operation
PAR in Sarasota, Charlotte, and Manatee Counties; Meridian Behavioral Healthcare, Inc.
in Alachua, Bradford, Dixie, Putnam, Gilchrist, and Suwannee Counties; and Guidance
Care Center, Inc. in Monroe County.

Hospital Bridge Programs

The Hospital Bridge Program expands access to treatment and recovery supports for
individuals with substance use disorders, particularly those with opioid use disorder
(OUD), who have overdosed or experienced other substance-related medical
complications. The Department is investing in the expansion of hospital partnerships,
creating a coordinated network of hospitals trained to serve individuals with opioid or other
substance use disorders. These hospitals initiate Medication for Opioid Use Disorder
(MOUD) prior to discharge, providing a “bridge” prescription to sustain individuals until
they are linked with a long-term treatment provider in the community. Certified Recovery
Peer Specialists play a central role in this model by engaging patients, providing
navigation and support, and facilitating warm handoffs to community-based services.
Peers connect with individuals in person, by phone, or via video conference to coordinate
appointments, explain the transition process, and ensure continuity of care. During Fiscal
Year 2024-2025, across the 20 hospital bridge programs that received opioid settlement
funding, 7,172 individuals were screened, 331 were inducted on life-saving medications,
5,047 were referred to treatment, and 2,945 were successfully enrolled in treatment
services.

Peer Supports and Recovery-Community Organizations

Peer Supports and Recovery Community Organizations (RCOs) provide critical, person-
centered services that help individuals achieve and maintain recovery from substance
use and mental health disorders. Certified Recovery Peer Specialists (CRPS) are
individuals with lived experience and specialized training, who guide and support others
on their recovery journey through mentorship, care coordination, and engagement in
ongoing treatment. RCOs are independent, peer-led non-profit organizations that
strengthen local recovery networks by offering peer recovery support, community

This draft is for discussion and editing purposes only. 20| Page



education, outreach, and linkage to treatment and wellness services. CRPSs and RCOs
work closely with hospitals and community-based providers participating in the
Coordinated Opioid Recovery (CORE) Network and Hospital Bridge programs to ensure
continuity of care and sustained recovery. As of December 2024, Florida has 1,248
CRPSs and 96 provisionally certified peers. Through opioid settlement funding in Fiscal
Year 2024-2025, the Department expanded the peer workforce by supporting salaries for
131 CRPSs and establishing three new RCOs across the state, further strengthening
Florida’s recovery support infrastructure.

Recovery Housing

Recovery Housing provides safe, stable, and supportive living environments for adults
with substance use disorders (SUD), prioritizing individuals with opioid use disorder
(OUD) who are homeless, at risk of homelessness, or in remission. This investment
expands access to recovery housing to help individuals achieve and sustain recovery,
reduce overdoses, and improve long-term health outcomes. Funds are being used for the
acquisition and renovation of property, construction of new housing, rental assistance,
and other activities that provide stable housing for individuals in recovery from OUD. The
Department has invested over $1.3 million to expand housing through the Oxford House
model, which are self-supported homes that allow residents using MOUD and offer 24-
hour peer support. From December 2023 to January 2025, the number of Oxford Houses
in Florida increased from 158 to 241, providing recovery housing for 2,164 individuals,
with 32 of the 83 new houses added during this time period funded through the opioid
settlement.

Applied Research

The nature of the opioid epidemic underscores the need for enhanced surveillance and
ongoing evaluation of the effectiveness of various abatement activities on different facets
of problem. In November 2024, after a competitive procurement process, the Department
executed a partnership with Florida State University (FSU) to build evaluative and
predictive models of opioid use disorder and overdoses, and to conduct applied research
related to opioid abatement activities. This initiative also entails replicating or improving
upon prior publications that used triangulation, capture-recapture, simulations, and
machine learning techniques to improve estimates and forecasting. Findings and results
are being used to assist the Department with understanding current and future program
needs, the impact of policy changes, and the return on investments. Since the inception
of this partnership, FSU has produced a review and summary table of over 100 research
publications, simulated patient audit protocols, and manuscripts and technical reports on
applied research topics like naloxone distribution, youth opioid misuse and suicidality, and
family factors related to externalizing behaviors. Findings are directly relevant to priority
initiatives for the Department, like improving access to both MOUD and housing. Through
this partnership with FSU, the Department recently documented substantial
improvements in the acceptance of individuals on MOUD among recovery residences in
South Florida. In 2022, according to an audit of certified recovery residences in Broward,
Palm Beach, and Miami-Dade counties, only 16 percent of recovery residences fully

This draft is for discussion and editing purposes only. 21| Page



accepted and housed individuals prescribed buprenorphine, while 31 percent allowed
them with conditions, and 53 percent denied them admission.® Beginning in 2025, a new
statute effectively prohibited certified recovery residences from denying individuals
access to housing solely because they are prescribed medications that treat substance
use disorders. Following the January 1, 2025 effective date of s. 397.487(13), F.S.,
trained callers from FSU presented as patients prescribed buprenorphine who were
seeking housing and contacted certified recovery residences in these same counties.
Their findings revealed a notable shift toward greater acceptance of individuals on
medications for opioid use disorder: approximately 46 percent of recovery residences
reported fully accepting individuals on buprenorphine, 37 percent allowed them with
conditions, and only 17 percent denied admission.©

Specialized Training in Graduate Medical Education

A well-trained and responsive behavioral health workforce is a critical component in
addressing the complexities of the opioid epidemic. The Department continues to
strengthen the capacity and expertise of professionals across the behavioral health
continuum by expanding training opportunities in psychiatry, pain management, addiction
medicine, and related disciplines essential to the treatment of individuals with opioid use
disorder (OUD), co-occurring substance use disorders (SUD), and mental health
conditions.

To support this effort, the Department has prioritized the expansion of Graduate Medical
Education (GME) residency programs focused on the management of OUD, SUD, and
co-occurring disorders. This initiative aims to build a sustainable and specialized clinical
workforce by creating new educational opportunities in key fields such as addiction
medicine, addiction psychiatry, and pain medicine. In partnership with Morton Plant
Hospital, DCF is advancing this initiative to address Florida’s growing demand for
qualified medical professionals. Through this collaboration, the Department is fostering
long-term workforce sustainability within the state’s behavioral health system.

To further incentivize participation, the Department allocates $100,000 annually for each
GME residency slot filled under this program. In recent years, approximately $4 million in
funding has been made available, supporting up to 40 residency positions. These
investments encourage medical institutions to repurpose existing GME positions toward
high-need behavioral health specialties, helping close critical service gaps and ensuring
greater access to quality care statewide.

Online Bed Availability System

In Fiscal Year 2024-2025, Bamboo Health was awarded a statewide contract to
implement OpenBeds, a real-time tracking system that provides up-to-date information
on the availability of treatment beds across healthcare facilities. This initiative strengthens
providers’ ability to quickly identify and secure appropriate treatment placements for
individuals seeking care. In Fiscal Year 2025-2026, the contract was expanded to include
the Closed Loop Referral System, which enables end-to-end tracking of referrals from
initiation to completion. This system allows providers to monitor referral status in real time,

This draft is for discussion and editing purposes only. 22| Page



verify patient placements, and conduct follow-up assessments to evaluate outcomes. A
key feature of the Closed Loop Referral System is its two-way communication between
referring and receiving providers, ensuring timely coordination and placement tailored to
each patient’s needs. Together, these systems enhance care coordination, improve
access to treatment, and support better patient outcomes across Florida’s behavioral
health network.

Local Projects

The General Appropriations Act allocated opioid settlement funds to support 17 local
projects aimed at addressing opioid-related challenges across Florida. Of these, twelve
projects are managed by the state’s Managing Entities, while five projects are directly
overseen by the Florida Department of Children and Families (Department) in
collaboration with the Florida Drug and Alcohol Abuse Association, Florida Alliance for
Healthy Communities, Live Tampa Bay, Insightec, and Tri-County Human Services. The
Florida Drug and Alcohol Abuse Association operates a Naltrexone Program that
promotes the use of extended-release injectable naltrexone, an FDA-approved
medication administered monthly for the treatment of opioid use disorder (OUD). The
Florida Alliance for Healthy Communities provides opioid addiction training and
prevention education to primary care providers, residents, and interns. Live Tampa Bay
is conducting research to identify factors contributing to overdose deaths among older
adults and implementing evidence-based strategies to address these causes. Insightec
is developing Low-Intensity Focused Ultrasound (LIFU) technology, a non-invasive
neuromodulation treatment for substance use disorders. Tri-County Human Services
provides detoxification services for individuals in Hardee, Highlands, and Polk counties,
offering medical supervision to manage withdrawal symptoms and prepare individuals for
ongoing treatment, thereby reducing emergency department admissions related to
substance use crises.

Statewide Integrated Data System and the Opioid Data Management System

The Department’s Office of Information Technology invests opioid settlement funds in
essential technological infrastructure and tools, including Electronic Data Interchange
health claim processing software, Azure Cloud infrastructure, Azure databases, a Data
Warehouse, a Master Data Management solution, a Data Integration tool, and artificial
intelligence software. Funds are also used to support critical staff positions including a
Project Manager, Business Analyst, Application Developers, Database Architect,
Webmaster, Data Integrators, Dashboard Developers, and Data Scientists. The
foundation and springboard for a new statewide integrated database is the Opioid Data
Management System (ODMS), which was developed to serve as a secure, centralized
platform for storing data and reports submitted by entities receiving opioid settlement
funding. The data system has a portal to receive treatment services and a portal to receive
implementation plans, expenditure reports, financial audit documentation, and other
supporting documentation. A portal for non-clinical activities is under development.
Additionally, the Department launched a new extension of ODMS called the Overdose
Prevention Program Application, which streamlines naloxone data reporting for 630
distributors statewide. The application centralizes key data, including financial records,

This draft is for discussion and editing purposes only. 23| Page



kit purchases, contact details, distribution metrics, and overdose reversal reports, into a
secure, user-friendly platform. Opioid settlement funds will continue to support the
management, maintenance, and enhancement of all these applications with the
necessary staff, software, and security.

Treatment and Recovery Support Services

Individuals that misuse opioids or have an Opioid Use Disorder (OUD) after being
exposed to addiction through the overprescribing of pharmaceutical opioids deserve
holistic, integrated care that addresses other co-occurring substance use disorders,
mental health disorders, and other health problems, all of which can be funded by the
opioid settlement. Services funded by the opioid settlement should be evidence-based,
individualized, recovery-oriented, trauma-informed, and culturally competent. Providers
that treat opioid use disorders, including those that serve individuals involved in the
criminal justice system, should abide by the most recently updated National Practice
Guideline for the Treatment of OUD from the American Society of Addiction Medicine
(ASAM), which is based on the most rigorous evidence available and informed by the
collective judgment of experts. The first-line clinical standard of care for the treatment of
OUD is the use of agonist medications such as methadone or buprenorphine, including
long-acting injectable formulations. As described in more detail in subsequent sections of
this report, the comprehensive array of services delivered to Floridians includes, but is
not limited to, assessments, case management, outpatient counseling, and medication
for OUD.

Characteristics of Individuals Served

As of September 12, 2025, ODMS reported that a total of 6,242 unique individuals were
served during FY 2024-2025. Of these, 2,500 patients, or 40 percent, had an opioid-
related diagnosis. The table below provides a snapshot of this population, with the largest
cohort consisting of 1,061 individuals in the 35 to 44 age group, including both female
and male patients. One individual is missing both sex and age and was not initiated on
MOUD.

Table 4: Characteristics of Individuals Served with an Opioid Related Diagnosis

Female Male
Age Patient Count On MOUD (%)  Patient Count  On MOUD (%)
18-24 25 5 (20%) 50 15 (30%)
25.34 234 73 (31%) 292 77 (26%)
35-44 483 239 (49%) 578 241 (42%)
45-54 222 117 (53%) 285 129 (45%)
55-64 107 48 (45%) 136 58 (43%)
65+ 25 10 (40%) 62 27 (44%)
Total 1,096 492 (45%) 1,403 547 (39%)

As patients engage in treatment, they enter a cascade of care. This framework illustrates
how individuals move through the system, beginning with diagnosis and continuing

This draft is for discussion and editing purposes only. 24 | Page



through engagement, initiation of medication for opioid use disorder (MOUD), and
retention in treatment. Each step presents a critical opportunity to intervene and improve
outcomes. However, drop-offs at any stage, such as failure to initiate MOUD or lack of
follow-up services, can significantly hinder recovery efforts.

In ODMS, we gain a glimpse into the cascade of care among patients with an opioid-
related diagnosis. During FY 2024-2025, 1,039 individuals, representing 42 percent of
those diagnosed, were initiated on MOUD. Of these, the vast majority, 953 patients,
received methadone, a well-established and effective treatment. While this marks a
meaningful step toward addressing OUD, it also reveals a significant treatment gap: more
than half of the patients diagnosed with OUD did not receive any form of MOUD. This is
notable, as MOUD, patrticularly methadone and buprenorphine, is the clinical standard of
care according to the ASAM, based on evidence demonstrating effectiveness in reducing
opioid use, preventing overdose, and supporting sustained recovery.

Figure 8: Cascade of Care for Individuals with Opioid Use Disorder (OUD), FY 2024-2025

Total Individuals Served and Reported in ODMS:
6,242

Opioid Related Diagnosis Among ODMS
Individuals:

2,500 (40%)

MAT Utilization Among
Opioid-Diagnosed Individuals:

1,039 (~42%)

Individuals on Individuals on
Buprenorphine: Methadone:

86 (~3%) 953 (~38%)

In addition to MOUD, providers reporting to ODMS delivered a wide range of services to
support individuals with substance use and behavioral health needs during the FY 2024-
2025. The five most frequently offered services included MOUD, which reached 1,039
individuals. This was followed by case management and evaluation services provided to
771 individuals (31 percent). Medical and clinical services were delivered to 701
individuals (28 percent), while assessment and screening services addressed the needs
of 412 individuals (16 percent). Treatment planning services were documented for 395
individuals (16 percent). It's important to note that not all individuals treated during this
period were new patients; some may have received assessments or treatment planning
in previous fiscal years.

This draft is for discussion and editing purposes only. 25| Page



Given the complexity of substance use, which often intersects with mental health and
other behavioral health conditions, ODMS records show significant rates of co-occurring
diagnoses among individuals with opioid-related diagnoses. Specifically, 338 individuals
(14 percent) also had a mental health diagnosis, 263 individuals (11 percent) had a
stimulant-related diagnosis, 174 individuals (7 percent) had an alcohol-related diagnosis,
and 139 individuals (6 percent) had a cannabis-related diagnosis. These figures are
based on provider-reported data and may be underreported, as accurate and complete
documentation within the ODMS system is necessary for identifying co-occurring
diagnoses accurately and completely.

A comprehensive continuum of care is essential to help individuals with opioid use
disorder achieve stability, independence, and long-term recovery. The Department
continues to strengthen this system by expanding access to early identification,
medication for opioid use disorder (MOUD), counseling, case management, and
supportive housing and employment services. These investments enhance Florida’s
capacity to meet the complex needs of individuals and improve recovery outcomes across
the state.

City/County Fund

The City/County Funds account for 15 percent of the total opioid settlement amount.
These funds are disbursed directly to 247 eligible cities and counties and do not pass
through the Department. Local jurisdictions are responsible for determining how their
allocated funds are utilized, in accordance with the permissible uses outlined in the
Florida Opioid Allocation and Statewide Response Agreement, as provided by the Office
of the Attorney General.

The Department conducted a preliminary analysis of expenditure data submitted through
the ODMS for FY 2024-2025. Among expenditures aligned with Schedule A: Core
Strategies, the largest portion of funds, approximately $20 million, was directed toward
treatment and recovery supports. These expenditures encompass activities outlined in
Schedules A and B of the Statewide Response Agreement, including connections and
warm handoffs to MOUD and other forms of care for populations such as pregnant and
postpartum women, babies experiencing Neonatal Abstinence Syndrome (NAS), and
individuals who are incarcerated or otherwise involved in the criminal justice system.

Expenditures related to Primary Prevention, which totaled approximately $3.8 million,
focus on reducing the initiation and misuse of opioids through community education,
media campaigns, and initiatives promoting safe prescribing, storage, and disposal of
opioid medications. Indirect and operational expenditures include data collection,
research, leadership, planning, coordination, and administrative functions essential to the
implementation of statewide opioid abatement strategies. Expenditures related to
abatement activities associated with First Responders are reported in a separate
category. Finally, Prevention of Overdoses and Other Harms encompasses naloxone
distribution associated with overdose prevention and response activities.

This draft is for discussion and editing purposes only. 26| Page



Figure 9: Expenditures by Core Strategies and Approved Uses, FY 2024-2025

Treatment and Recovery support | §:9,535.926
Primary Prevention _ $3,805,713

Indirect/Operational and Other

Expenses $3,530,048
First Responders $1,449,607
Prevention of Overdoses and
$920,844

Other Harms

Figure 10: Percentage of Expenditures by Core Strategies and Approved Uses, FY 2024-
2025

H Treatment and Recovery
Support

Primary Prevention

Indirect/Operational and Other
Expenses

First Responders

® Prevention of Overdoses and
Other Harms

Note: The Opioid Data Management System (ODMS) is not an official accounting system; Florida’s official system is
the Florida Accounting Information Resource (FLAIR) system, which will be replaced by the Florida Planning,
Accounting, and Ledger Management (PALM) system. Expenditure data reported in ODMS are not reconciled or
certified. In accordance with the Florida Opioid Allocation and Statewide Response Agreement, Local Governments
must maintain fiscal monitoring and oversight processes for all providers receiving opioid settlement funds and must
upload completed financial monitoring reports in ODMS. To prevent any recoupment or claw back of funds, all entities
receiving opioid settlement funds, including Local Governments, Managing Entities, subcontractors, and subrecipients,
are required to use them solely for Approved Purposes and Core Strategies.

This draft is for discussion and editing purposes only. 27 | Page



Regional Fund

The Regional Fund is subdivided into two separate streams: one for qualified counties
and the other for non-qualified counties. Qualified counties are defined as having a
population of at least 300,000 individuals, an opioid task force (or similar entity), and an
opioid abatement plan. There are 20 qualified counties. For Fiscal Year 2024-2025,
qualified counties were allocated $69,012,661. Regional Funds for qualified counties are
disbursed directly from the Department of Financial Services annually in September.
These funds do not flow through the Department of Children and Families or the

Managing Entities.

i Santa

| Holmes y =
! e

| Ll.Jacksun \‘/-77_,_,
Walton d\/ashmglm 7| Gadsden A Jefferson | T ——
/ | ! b  tean JJ i Macison | amiflon i
S Ca\hounj* g | f 7 by

; S 8 k;ni-‘ j Duval :
L f . axer =
ﬁuwanneeFm“mh‘a —

' i R i
/ Iy - y
‘—{ Liberty \ Wkdla |/ ‘ . )
4 "-""/’i\_» Taylor N (Unign - Oy
h | Lafayem;' \N,{ .b"'“-jfadlord| i \ JDSF:;'IS‘%‘
N e I e v
e (Gilehrist lr’ e
i Dixie ;__ | LAlaChua JPﬂutnam r»ﬂag\er"
e/ T > &
W ey ] 8
11& I | Marion }l\\ "\
% I L _IJ \( Volusia %‘\:‘
Citus P k
R S > y ‘ Lake | =N
Qualified Counties Y (e | (Sl
1 Hemando ., [ Orange X
Brevard County Miami-Dade County F i | P
,»E Pasco - L 4“
Ei L )
- Osceol
Broward County Orange County Pt 7 freard
_ ‘ N ]giia;"a
Collier County Osceola County — T R
j Hardee {\Okeechoheel Ly
- . AN
Palm Beach Count N _7 | Hiands ", o
Duval County y Y g st VS
', Sarasota — . Martin
e T
Escambia County Pasco County aae | S N\ 4 :
e
Hillsborough County Pinellas County a,@m oy Hondry | Pamesn
" ]
= | "
Lake County Polk County ool o
A _ — .y
. P [ g
Lee County Seminole County T | Iz
3, jamiDede [
", Monroe Hanee |
Manatee County St. Lucie County ‘
Marion County Volusia County

This draft is for discussion and editing purposes only.

28 | Page



Conversely, Regional Funds for non-qualified counties are allocated through the
General Appropriations Act and disbursed by the Department through the seven
Managing Entities. Non-qualified counties are defined as those that do not meet the
criteria for a qualified county. There are 47 non-qualified counties that receive funding
through the Managing Entities. For Fiscal Year 2024-2025, non-qualified counties were
allocated $16,220,944.

/ L p N
hscamhl:f | Okaloosa| ‘ Huhm:s (— L
[ Sanw | L Tacksn
hY ‘l Rosa | . L\*—ff -
/ Walton }Vashmgmn] " Gadsden /’J nﬂﬂ"&mﬁl{’ T 7}—; _]’ \ S
3 : adison | il i Y
— |(_ﬂ||mun L Leon J Madison | ‘ L
3 { @ ¢ e ,,f b S Duval |
‘_ \,t L|bcrty ‘-‘| Wakulla 4 fiSuwanncc “olumbia - | "‘.‘
£ N orsard=d Tyl X =7 [ L
} \ I Laylor \“, L EJ[ ion~ IJ Clay - y
S Lafayette LA radfor :l.Tc:hns
\\_ = - ""\,J o . \;(
S {}ilchrisl ‘V )
I Dixie & acl Pulnam
{ ; L Alachua vy Klﬂglcr X
Tt
W Levy | ﬁ/ J
1, . r Marion }L\
Non-Qualified Counties S R Volusia %
. - N
D — )
Alachua County Jackson County ? Lake , A ~
a /Seminole’,
Baker County Jefferson County [ 4\5““"“ | LT,
{ Hernando - c
Bay County Lafayette County i — | Omnge
Bradford County Lecn County
Calhoun County Levy County
Charlotte County Liberty County 3
Citrus County Madison County - 2&
1y
Clay County Martin County T f\mredmm “'?:4.
Columbia County Monroe County Tlardee | : \\Ly/ ‘ St Lucie:)
Highlan —
DeSoto County Nassau County ', Saras Esttmim R ¢ d?_ Martin
Dixie Count Ckaloosa County - s
z . Charlotte Glades s y
Flagler County Okeechobee County A - _\[ J l!
Franklin County Putnam County | ot | oot B ‘
_ Ilendry aim Bead |
Gadsden County Santa Rosa County | | | N,
- i
Gilchrist County Sarasota County =
Glades County St. Johns County
Gulf County Sumter County
Hamilton County Suwannee County
Hardee County Taylor County
Hendry County Union County
Hernando County Wakulla County
Highlands County Walton County
Holmes County Washington County
Indian River County e

This draft is for discussion and editing purposes only. 29| Page



Community Highlights: Opioid Abatement Funds for Positive Change

Alachua County's Multifaceted Approach Featuring a Mobile Integrated Healthcare Team

Alachua County is taking a multifaceted approach to tackling the opioid epidemic that
spans the full continuum of prevention, education, treatment, and recovery support
services. In January 2024, the county began using opioid settlement funds to launch a
Mobile Integrated Healthcare (MIH) Team, which offers comprehensive, personalized
treatment and recovery support services for individuals struggling with opioid use and co-
occurring mental health conditions. This multidisciplinary team provides post-EMS
interventions and assessments that ensure patients receive the appropriate level of care.
Holistic services are delivered directly to residents in underserved communities, including
case management, mental health counseling, buprenorphine for opioid use disorder,
overdose rescue medications, housing assistance, and peer recovery support. The
growing demand for evidence-based medications like buprenorphine, which effectively
suppress cravings, withdrawal, and illicit opioid use, underscores its essential role in
treatment. The program's ability to meet this demand is contributing to improved patient
stability and long-term recovery. Warm hand-offs ensure a seamless transition to ongoing
treatment. Additionally, mobile naloxone kiosks are stationed at community events
throughout the county, while preventive educational initiatives in media and schools raise
awareness about the dangers of opioid misuse and promote healthy behaviors.

Seminole County’s Beacon of Hope: The SCORE Initiative

Seminole County is combatting the opioid epidemic with a multi-pronged approach that
integrates prevention, education, treatment, and recovery support. The overarching goal
iIs to break the cycle of addiction, save lives, and increase the quality of life. The
centerpiece is the Seminole Collaborative Opioid Response Efforts (SCORE) initiative.
SCORE deploys a mobile response team to meet individuals in the emergency
department after an overdose. With the guidance of a peer coach, the team offers a
seamless transition into treatment. If an individual is not ready, the team follows up within
24-48 hours of their release to offer assistance again. When a person is ready, the team
facilitates transportation to partner organizations like Aspire Health Partners for services
such as intensive outpatient therapy. Wraparound services, including housing,
transportation, MOUD, and peer support, are provided through partnerships with
organizations like Recovery Connections of Central Florida. The Department of Health
also contributes by offering screening, testing, and counseling for infectious diseases. On
the prevention front, a modernized curriculum teaches students about the dangers of
drugs and empowers them to have conversations with trusted adults. Public awareness
campaigns amplify the message that “One Pill Can Kill.” The county also collaborates with
regional partners and six municipalities to pool resources, maximize impact, and avoid
duplicating opioid abatement services.

Collier County's Comprehensive Strateqgic Plan for Opioid Settlement Funds

Collier County is implementing a comprehensive strategic plan that addresses prevention,
outreach, treatment, and recovery support. Settlement funds are being used to expand

This draft is for discussion and editing purposes only. 30| Page



outreach efforts, increase access to naloxone, and strengthen crisis stabilization services,
detoxification, and residential treatment capacity. The plan also prioritizes recovery
supports for individuals who are incarcerated. Program partners include David Lawrence
Centers, the Collier County Sheriff’'s Office, and New Season. Together, they provide
access to MOUD, intensive outpatient programming, residential treatment, and recovery
housing, along with services that support successful transitions from incarceration. To
prevent opioid misuse, a public education campaign is raising awareness about the
dangers of opioids, available community resources, and local drug take-back and disposal
programs. Collier County also plans to expand the distribution of naloxone and other
overdose recuse medication, coupled with education about Florida’s 911 Good Samaritan
Act (Section 893.21, Florida Statutes). Additionally, funding is dedicated to strengthening
data collection and analysis to better measure the impact of naloxone distribution and
administration on opioid overdoses. Collier County is also collaborating with a partner
organization to develop a mobile treatment initiative to increase access to care for
individuals facing transportation barriers.

South Miami’s Specialized Outreach Support Team for Unhoused Individuals

In May 2024, New Hope C.O.R.P.S. (Counseling, Outpatient, Residential, Prevention
Services) was established as a Recovery Community Organization (RCO) in Miami-Dade
County. New Hope C.O.R.P.S is an established provider with the local Continuum of Care,
Miami-Dade Homeless Trust, as well as a contracted provider for the Veterans Affairs
Homeless Program. Through their partnership with the City of South Miami, New Hope
C.0O.R.P.S. established a specialized outreach support team for individuals who are
unhoused. This team of two case managers engage with individuals on the streets, linking
them through warm-handoffs and transportation to emergency shelters and permanent
housing, which can entail assistance with explaining landlord expectations and executing
lease/rental agreements. New Hope C.0O.R.P.S offers MOUD, residential treatment, and
outpatient therapy. Individuals can also be enrolled in Children’s Care Coordination or
Critical Time Intervention.

The remainder of this page was intentionally left blank.

This draft is for discussion and editing purposes only. 31| Page



Recommendations

The Council is statutorily mandated to propose recommendations regarding how monies
should be prioritized and spent in the coming FY 2025/2026 to respond to the opioid
epidemic.

1. Require all counties participating in the CORE program to publish sustainability
plans outlining how services and partnerships will be maintained once opioid
settlement funds are no longer available.

Florida’s Coordinated Opioid Recovery (CORE) Network of Addiction Care provides
24/7 access to evidence-based treatment for opioid use disorders. This network
includes emergency medical services, Certified Recovery Peer Specialists, and
experts in addiction medicine. Beginning in FY 2022-2023, 12 counties were
onboarded into the CORE Network by the Department of Health. In FY 2023-2024,
the Department of Children and Families onboarded an additional 18 counties. In FY
2024-2025, 17 more counties joined the CORE Network, followed by an additional 18
counties in FY 2025-2026, resulting in statewide coverage across all 67 counties.
During their first year of funding from the Department of Children and Families, CORE
counties received between $700,000 to $1,000,000. This funding is reduced by 50
percent for counties in the second year, and 25 percent for the counties in the third
year, continuing at that level through the projected end of the opioid settlement in
2039. To ensure the sustainability of CORE Networks, it is necessary to secure funds
from various sources in the future.

Recommendation: To evaluate funding needs and ensure that participating counties
can maintain CORE services at appropriate levels, the Council recommends utilization
of the seven Managing Entities working with all counties participating in CORE
program to develop sustainability plans that will be submitted to the Department for
dissemination to the Council.

2. Promote the use of opioid settlement funds to expand access to medications
for opioid use disorder (MOUD) through mobile treatment units that can provide
in-home inductions throughout specific Florida communities.

Mobile medication clinics are specialized vehicles designed to travel to multiple
locations, where they dispense and administer medications for opioid use disorder
(MOUD). In addition, these clinics offer a range of other services including counseling,
primary care, and peer recovery support. Mobile clinics are key to expanding access
in rural areas and supporting continuity of care, as patients are more likely to stay
connected to services that are available in multiple locations. They are ideal for
reaching out to individuals who are homeless or experiencing more severe substance
use disorders. Interviews suggest that the services provided through mobile clinics
are perceived to be less stigmatizing, more convenient and predictable, and allow for
greater privacy.!! Research shows that mobile treatment is feasible and acceptable
for rural populations and can achieve retention rates and reductions in illicit opioid use

This draft is for discussion and editing purposes only. 32| Page



similar to those observed from office-based programs.!? There is a positive and
significant relationship between a state’s rurality and the percent of the population
without a buprenorphine provider within 10 to 30 miles.'3 According to a systematic
review of rural-specific barriers to MOUD, travel burden is the most salient obstacle to
accessing treatment, with studies demonstrating that rural patients face greater travel
distances and increased travel times.* Department-funded mobile programs with
Medication for Opioid Use Disorder services are operational through PanCare in only
7 out of the 33 rural counties in Florida (Calhoun, Jackson, Liberty, Washington,
Walton, and Gadsden).

Recommendation: Therefore, the Council recommends further expanded
deployment of MOUD through mobile clinics in underserved areas of the state with a
specific focus on rural counties.

. Increase awareness of educational strategies to prevent opioid misuse by
disseminating the latest scientific evidence.

Prevention education is a key component of preventing opioid misuse, and there is an
increasingly robust amount of scientific evidence available to identify effective
programs, increasing awareness and proactive responsiveness. For example, a
recently published systematic review identified eight studies of seven different
educational programs to prevent opioid misuse and associated harmful outcomes,
conducted in middle or high school settings, and identified the most effective program
components.t® Sharing evaluated programs and strategies can increase the
effectiveness of implemented educational strategies to prevent opioid misuse.

Recommendation: The Council recommends that the seven Managing Entities
educate prevention service providers on the latest peer-reviewed evaluation findings
of programs designed to prevent opioid misuse.

. Increase access to naloxone in community hotspots through new partnerships
and by encouraging hospitals to provide direct access to naloxone to patients
and family members prior to discharge through nurse-driven protocols for
direct dispensing or distribution stands/boxes.

In addition to proactive supports and recovery services, further encouragement of
hospitals to proactively distribute Naloxone to patients and family members is
recommended as an additional measure. Nationwide, 23 percent of opioid overdose
patients presenting at Emergency Departments (EDs) receive a prescription for
naloxone specifically from the ED.®The gaps in access go beyond low rates of
prescribing directly from the ED, extending to rates of naloxone obtainment, which are
also disconcertingly low. According to a study of adults discharged from the ED
following treatment for an opioid-related condition from 2016 to 2018, only 1.1 percent
filled a prescription for naloxone in the 30 days following their ED encounter.l’ A
subsequent study, examining the period from August 2019 through April 2021, found
improved rates, but still estimated that naloxone is only prescribed for 7.4 percent of
ED visits for opioid overdose, and it is actually dispensed for only 6.3 percent of ED

This draft is for discussion and editing purposes only. 33| Page



visits for opioid overdose. For comparative purposes, 49 percent of ED visits for
anaphylaxis (e.g., allergic reactions to bee stings or foods) had an epinephrine
prescription (e.g., an EpiPen®) within 30 days and 45 percent had epinephrine
dispensed within 30 days.'® According to a recently published retrospective cohort
study, implementing an ED naloxone program is associated with a 48 percent
reduction in the risk of subsequent ED visits for overdose and a 63 percent reduction
in the risk of death.*®

It is now more important than ever that EDs “ditch the scripts and bring the meds to
beds” — in other words, engage in direct dispensing of naloxone out of the ED, as
called for in the 2023 joint Policy Statement issued by the American College of
Emergency Physicians, and as empowered through section 381.887, Florida Statutes.
Obstacles to naloxone access through community pharmacies remain even at this late
stage of the opioid epidemic. Prescription formulations of naloxone are not stocked in
approximately one out of three community pharmacies in Florida.?® And even when
prescriptions are issued, they are very unlikely to be filled, with out-of-pocket costs
suppressing access among the most vulnerable populations.?!

Recommendation: The Council recommends the use of hospitals as an essential
community partner for increasing access to naloxone for high-risk individuals.

. To enhance behavioral health services that integrates targeted and specialized
support for human trafficking survivors or those at-risk using trauma-informed
care.

In 2024, there were 164 verified cases of commercial sexual exploitation of children.??
Traditional behavioral health services often lack the necessary resources to
adequately address the complex trauma and addiction issues that may be faced by
survivors of human trafficking.

Recent qualitative research examining survivors of human trafficking has highlighted
the strong correlation between substance use and exploitation. Many survivors
reported that traffickers either introduced substances as a form of control or exploited
pre-existing substance use disorders to entrap victims. In some cases, survivors
developed addictions as a direct response to trauma, using substances as a means
of managing the emotional and psychological distress associated with their
experiences. The same study found that the majority of survivors interviewed
disclosed using substances during or after their trafficking experience, and a
significant portion identified substance use as a factor in their recruitment®® An
analysis of 43 cases of youth in Florida who were exploited by traffickers who were
not family members found that traffickers build dependence, gain trust, and entrap
victims by providing shelter and drugs.?* Case file reviews and interviews with service
providers found that 6 percent of female juvenile trafficking victims in Florida were
trafficked by a drug dealer. Furthermore, 71 percent of juvenile trafficking victims used
substances, with even higher rates observed among girls with intellectual disabilities
(83 percent).?®

This draft is for discussion and editing purposes only. 34| Page



Recommendation: The Council recommends enhanced behavioral health services
that integrates a comprehensive trauma-informed addiction treatment for healing and
empowerment of human trafficking survivors or those at-risk. Furthermore, behavioral
health settings are key points for human trafficking prevention. Best practice guides
and public-health briefs recommend integrating trafficking screening, staff training,
and referral pathways into mental-health and substance-use services because these
settings frequently serve people with risk factors for trafficking.?® This initiative aims to
strengthen current behavioral health systems by bridging the gap in services that
address both substance use and mental health needs specific to this demographic.
By addressing the underlying causes of addiction among survivors, it is possible to
mitigate the risk of re-victimization.

. Support routine prenatal opioid screenings and appropriate postnatal treatment
by disseminating resources like Florida’s Maternal Opioid Recovery Effort
Toolkit.

To address the impact of opioid use disorder on pregnant and postpartum women, it
is recommended that Florida strengthen support for routine prenatal opioid screenings
and ensure access to appropriate postnatal developmental assessments and
treatment. These clinical interventions are critical to safeguarding maternal and infant
health, reducing long-term developmental challenges, and improving recovery
outcomes for families affected by substance use. To achieve this goal, state and local
health agencies should prioritize the dissemination of tools such as Florida’s Maternal
Opioid Recovery Effort (MORE) Toolkit. This resource provides evidence-based
guidance for healthcare providers, promoting standardized practices in screening,
treatment planning, and multidisciplinary care coordination. Broad distribution and
integration of these materials can support a statewide culture of early identification,
non-stigmatizing care, and long-term recovery support for mothers and newborns alike
well into their early childhood education years.

Recommendation: The Council recommends that providers use evidence-based
guidance to support routine prenatal opioid screenings.

Promote access to recovery support services and resources for parents of
young children impacted by opioid use.

To enhance family stability and support long-term recovery outcomes, it is
recommended that parents in Florida whose children are affected by opioid use have
access to comprehensive recovery support services. These services should include
peer mentoring, trauma-informed family therapy, childcare assistance, and parenting
education that addresses the complex challenges faced by parents in recovery.

Services for children should include developmental assessments and pediatric care
that addresses the unique needs of opioid-exposed children. Research indicates that
opioid use can disrupt parent-child relationships and increase the risk of adverse
developmental outcomes for children, which makes targeted, family-centered

This draft is for discussion and editing purposes only. 35| Page



interventions essential. A qualitative study of 23 integrated care programs across
North America found that dyadic models — those providing medical and behavioral
services to both parent and child — were most successful when they offered
coordinated, wraparound supports like peer recovery coaching, case management,
and developmental assessments.?’ By investing in these specific supports, Florida
can help prevent intergenerational cycles of substance use, reduce the likelihood of
child welfare involvement, and strengthen family reunification efforts. Prioritizing these
services reflects the state’s commitment to a holistic approach to recovery that
focuses not only on the individual but also on the health and resilience of the entire
family unit. Establishing sustained access across service systems will ensure that
parents are equipped with the necessary tools and community connections to build
strong, nurturing environments for their children.

Recommendation: The Council recommends increasing access to coordinated,
wraparound support services like developmental assessments, parenting education,
dyadic behavioral health services, for families impacted by opioid use.

. Maximize inter-agency agreements to facilitate the sharing of opioid-related
public health data, including data for provisional fatal and non-fatal overdoses
as well as syndromic surveillance.

Increased data sharing is crucial for planning appropriate responses to both the acute
and chronic aspects of the opioid epidemic. By prioritizing synergistic data sharing
among programs currently engaged in overdose prevention and response, we can
ensure that data and analytic tools are managed within programs that provide long-
term, coordinated responses, and already work with similar data. Efforts to meet this
need have already begun with the Office of Opioid Recovery (OOR), which is
reviewing syndromic surveillance data, specifically Emergency Medical Services
(EMS) records through the BioSpatial application, representing the bulk of non-fatal
overdoses. Additionally, the OOR has established a close partnership with the Florida
Department of Health’s federally funded Overdose Data-to-Action (OD2A) program,
which analyzes vital records for suspected overdose deaths.

Analyses related to these data can be quickly generated within the Department of
Children and Families by epidemiologists and public health analysts experienced in
working with syndromic surveillance data, allowing for the creation of geographic
analyses to support public health planning. Current plans for data acquisition
acknowledge the highly sensitive nature of these health records and the stigma and
risk posed to victims of the opioid epidemic in the event of a data breach or illicit
disclosure of health status information. The OOR’s specific plans include the creation
of state-of-industry dashboards that provide timely geospatial analysis of recent
overdose trends by zip code and longitudinal trends for long-range planning,
supporting the core purposes of the opioid settlement. These dashboards will allow
granular map views of counties and summaries of overdose events, accompanied by
analyses highlighting significant trends or changes.

This draft is for discussion and editing purposes only. 36 | Page



10.

Recommendation: Therefore, the Council recommends prioritization of inter-agency
data sharing agreements to expedite the dissemination of syndromic surveillance data
depicting key trends to inform strategic planning.

Enhance the development of the peer workforce and create opportunities for
upward mobility among Certified Recovery Peer Specialists by establishing a
credential for peer supervisors.

Recovery Peer Specialists provide valuable support to individuals experiencing opioid
use disorder by utilizing their lived experience with substance use and/or mental
health challenges. Peer recovery certifications equip individuals with lived experience
to support others in recovery, emphasizing the importance of supports like
medications for opioid use disorder (MOUD) and reducing stigma associated with
medications like methadone and buprenorphine. Supervision by peers themselves
rather than only clinical staff enhances the overall quality of peer-based services and
contributes to better outcomes for those receiving peer-based services. This peer-led
approach fosters a sense of understanding, trust, and relatability, which is essential
for establishing meaningful connections with individuals in recovery.?®

Developing a dedicated credential for peer supervisors not only promotes career
advancement, but also leverages their lived experience to bring authenticity, reinforce
core peer support values, and provide emotional support—factors that strengthen role
clarity and improve retention. Traditional supervision focuses on therapeutic methods
and diagnosis, which may not address the strengths and insights of peer specialists.
Peer-to-peer supervision, grounded in shared understanding and common
challenges, is more effective for authentic support and mitigating role drift.2°

The Department will develop this credential through the Florida Certification Board,
validating the expertise of certified peers and creating a clear career pathway.
Expanding access to peer supervision training, especially in organizations with limited
support, will ensure consistency and effectiveness. This approach will enhance job
satisfaction, mitigate role drift, and improve outcomes for individuals receiving peer
support services, advancing the state’s commitment to recovery-oriented care.

Recommendation: The Council recommends the establishment of a dedicated
credential for peer supervisors to help strengthen and sustain the peer recovery
workforce.

Expand access to integrated residential treatment services for women in Florida
affected by substance use disorders and persistent mental health issues,
particularly those with children aged 0 to 5 years.

Women experiencing challenges related to both mental health and substance use
often encounter significant barriers in accessing care that effectively addresses their
parenting responsibilities alongside their treatment needs.3° While pregnant women
receive priority admission status when seeking treatment for substance use disorders,
they continue to encounter barriers to access. In FY 24-25, a total of 36 pregnant

This draft is for discussion and editing purposes only. 37| Page



11.

women were placed on a waitlist for drug treatment services, as reported by the
Managing Entities. Prioritizing comprehensive and integrated services that employ
evidence-based practices is essential. This focus should emphasize the importance
of fostering positive parent-child relationships and cultivating healthy and nurturing
attachments.3! Adopting such an approach can lead to improved recovery outcomes,
a reduction in relapse rates, and the promotion of long-term independence.®?
Furthermore, this strategy has the potential to preclude interventions by the child
welfare system, thereby mitigating the associated trauma and long-term
repercussions of such involvement.3

By supporting residential treatment that allows mothers to stay with their young
children, DCF can improve outcomes. Research shows that women who live with their
children while in treatment stay in treatment longer, are more likely to complete
treatment, and experience better outcomes than women who do not reside with their
children, including greater abstention from substance use, better employment, lower
arrests and incarcerations, and greater likelihood of having custody and living with
their children at follow-up.®* Responsive, structured, and attentive caregiving during
these early years significantly reduces the risk of mental health challenges later in life.
The success of an infant or child increases when their needs are consistently met by
caregivers.

Recommendation: The Council therefore recommends expanding access to
integrated residential services for women with young children and behavioral health
disorders to improve a multitude of treatment outcomes.

Encourage jails to partner with mobile providers of medications for opioid use
disorder (MOUD) to establish reentry programs that initiate medications during
incarceration and support individuals reintegrating into the community with
unmet needs related to insurance, housing, employment, and co-occurring
mental illnesses.

Nationwide, about 54 percent of individuals with opioid use disorder report ever being
arrested and booked in jail, making jails a key intervention point for initiating
treatment.3® Statewide, about 16 percent of jail admissions screen positive for opioid
use disorder.?® To effectively combat opioid addiction across Florida, we propose
leveraging partnerships with community-based providers of MOUD that utilize mobile
clinics and jail-based programs with reentry initiatives, particularly in underserved and
rural areas. Re-entry programming supports individuals with re-enrolling in health
insurance and transportation assistance, housing, and employment before release.

Expanding jail-based access to MOUD will ensure individuals receive both treatment
during incarceration and support a smooth transition back into the community.
Research shows that treating individuals with opioid use disorder with buprenorphine
while incarcerated can reduce rates of post-release recidivism (i.e., arraignment,
probation violation, or incarceration).3’The St. Johns County Sheriff's Office recently

This draft is for discussion and editing purposes only. 38| Page



12.

partnered with EPIC Community Services, Inc., to implement a new reentry program
called MARS: Medically Assisted Recovery Services. MARS includes the provision of
in-jail medications, including but not limited to buprenorphine-based products,
addressing withdrawal and cravings while reducing relapse upon release. MARS also
provides in-jail care coordination and peer recovery support prior to release. Care
Coordinators and re-entry staff collaborate to ensure that housing, employment, and
transportation needs are coordinated and established before the day of release. EPIC
conducts psychiatric evaluations and initiates the first dose of medication, while the
medical provider contracted with the jail administers all subsequent doses before
discharge. EPIC is a non-profit drug treatment provider with a sliding fee scale that is
within the network of the local Managing Entity (Lutheran Health Services Florida).

Recommendation: The Council recommends that jails partner with behavioral health
treatment providers to establish evidence-based reentry programs capable of
addressing co-occurring disorders and providing mediations for opioid use disorder.

Increase access to permanent, stable housing for families receiving treatment
or recovery support services for opioid misuse or opioid use disorders by
increasing awareness of flexible funding for incidentals like rental assistance
and utilities.

To enhance stable housing for families impacted by opioids and other substances, a
strategic initiative is proposed to increase awareness and improve access to flexible
funding resources. This includes incidentals for families receiving outpatient
treatment, recovery support services, and child welfare services or at risk for child
welfare intervention. This initiative will target providers or services that support
caregivers of children in foster care, as well as survivors of domestic violence and
human trafficking, and will also educate frontline staff on the availability of this flexible
funding.

A major barrier to effective recovery and family reunification is the lack of stable
housing. Without a secure living environment, families experience significant stress,
hindering their ability to fully engage in treatment, maintain employment, and create a
nurturing atmosphere for their children. This instability perpetuates cycles of trauma
and crisis, ultimately undermining the goals of our support systems. Systemic reviews
have established that housing instability often precedes and elevates the risk for
substance use and overdose, and housing stress is associated with an increased
likelihood of child maltreatment, child protective services reports, and out of home
placements.38

Recommendation: The Council recommends that opioid settlement funding be
flexibly deployed to address unmet needs, such as rental and utility assistance, which
are essential for promoting housing stability and continuity in treatment. Integrating
these supports into outpatient treatment, residential and recovery services, represents
a strategic investment in stabilizing the family unit. This approach reduces stressors
that contribute substance use and supports long-term recovery outcomes.

This draft is for discussion and editing purposes only. 39 |Page



13.Ensure that Problem-Solving Courts Collaborate with Treatment Providers that
Offer Methadone and Buprenorphine.

Problem-solving courts, like drug courts, help connect individuals to community-based
treatment, thereby diverting them from more extensive involvement in the justice
system and helping to keep families intact. Judges play a critical role by closely
monitoring progress, holding participants accountable, and encouraging their
success. A meta-analysis of evaluations found that participation in drug courts can
reduce recidivism by about 25 percent for up to three years.3® However, some courts
provide only limited access to the most effective medications for OUD. According to a
survey of criminal problem-solving and dependency court staff in Florida, only 38
percent collaborate with treatment providers that encourage methadone, and only 49
percent collaborate with treatment providers that encourage buprenorphine.4® Another
survey of judges in criminal problem-solving and civil dependency courts in Florida
found that nearly two percent reported that they never allow participants to recover
with methadone or buprenorphine. Similar restrictions on naltrexone were not reported
by any judges.** To foster greater collaboration and deeper understanding of the
effectiveness of MOUD, participation in training on opioids and MOUD developed by
the Office of the State Courts Administrator is encouraged.

Recommendation: To ensure that individuals involved with problem-solving courts
remain connected to life-saving treatment, it is recommended that problem-solving
courts collaborate with treatment providers that offer methadone and buprenorphine.

14.Reduce compassion fatigue and bolster First Responder resilience by
expanding access to high-quality, trauma-informed psychiatric telehealth
services for First Responders, their families, and the patients they serve in high-
need, low-resource areas.

First responders are critical to addressing the opioid crisis. They reverse and prevent
fatal opioid overdoses by — among other things — administering and distributing life-
saving naloxone, and they are empowered to establish a pathway to recovery and
post-overdose care when they initiate patients on buprenorphine, an evidence-based
Medication for Opioid Use Disorder. While EMS paramedicine programs present an
ideal opportunity to offer access to evidence-based treatment for individuals who may
never voluntarily seek treatment at an emergency department or outpatient addiction
program, not enough EMS programs are inducting opioid overdose patients on
buprenorphine. Buprenorphine products suppress cravings, withdrawal, and
overdoses, which can help individuals to end the cycle of addiction and overdoses
while starting a path of recovery. First Responders are problem-solving “fixers” who
want the tools to help people heal, recover, and halt the cycle of overdoses. Without
these tools, this work can extract a significant toll on the mental health and well-being
of First Responders. Examples of paramedicine programs in Florida that have
overcome barriers related to stigma, staffing, and infrastructure in order to start
patients on buprenorphine in the field include Clay County Fire Rescue, Escambia
County Fire Rescue, Hernando County Fire Rescue, City of Gainesville, Alachua
County Fire Rescue, and Marion County Fire Rescue.

This draft is for discussion and editing purposes only. 40 |Page



About two percent of all EMS runs in Florida are related to non-fatal, all-drug
overdoses, and less than one percent of all EMS runs are related to non-fatal opioid-
involved overdoses.*? Interviews with EMS personnel in Florida and throughout the
country identified compassion fatigue from aiding the same overdose patients,
sometimes more than once a day, as a common theme. Another common theme,
identified by all EMS staff interviewed, was the need for better treatment options to
respond to overdoses. They identified a need for mental health professionals and
psychiatric services to help respond to overdose patients with mental health needs.
EMS personnel also “accentuated the need for innovative treatments focusing on
repeat overdose patients,” including treatment options that involve telemedicine,
hotlines, and social workers.*® These findings were echoed in a recently published
white paper — informed by a scoping review of 30 peer-reviewed studies — which noted
that, “Lack of resources — both for patient care and responder mental health — fuels
frustration and a sense of futility.” More specifically, “Responders expressed deep
frustration over the ‘particularly demoralizing’ lack of available treatment resources for
patients and limited mental health support for themselves. In rural areas, these
challenges were compounded by the absence of local services and long transport
times.”#4

According to findings from a 2024 survey of EMS personnel conducted by the Florida
Center for Emergency Medical Services, about 28 percent of respondents
experienced a traumatic event on the job. Symptoms attributed to job-related stress
included difficulty sleeping (35 percent), anxiety (31 percent), depression (20 percent),
substance use (nine percent), and thoughts of suicide (four percent).*> About 70
percent of respondents indicated that their agency offered an Employee Assistance
Program, and 65 percent reported that peer support services were available, though
only about 10 percent reported accessing mental health services through their agency
in the past year. However, it is important to note that about 25 percent of respondents
believe that seeking mental health support could negatively affect promotional
opportunities, and a similar proportion reported concerns that peers would treat them
differently.4®

Recommendation: Expand access to high-quality, trauma-informed psychiatric

telehealth services for First Responders, their families, and the patients they serve in
high-need, low-resource areas.

This draft is for discussion and editing purposes only. 41 |Page



1Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration. (2025). 2022—-2023 National Surveys on
Drug Use and Health: Model-Based Prevalence Estimates (50 States and the District of Columbia).

2 Keyes, K. M., et al. (2022). What is the Prevalence of and Trend in Opioid Use Disorder in the United
States from 2010 to 2019? Using Multiplier Approaches to Estimate Prevalence for an Unknown Population
Size. Drug and Alcohol Dependence Reports, 3, 100052.

3 Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. (2024). Overdose prevention: Risks and how to reduce them.

4 McClellan, C., et al. (2018). Opioid-Overdose Laws Association with Opioid Use and Overdose Mortality.
Addictive Behaviors, 86, 90-95.

5 Bruzelius, E., et al. (2023). Naloxone Expansion Is Not Associated with Increases in Adolescent Heroin
Use and Injection Drug Use. Drug and Alcohol Dependence, 252, 109877 .

6 Tse, W. C., et al. (2022). Does Naloxone Provision Lead to Increased Substance Use? A Systematic
Review to Assess If There Is Evidence of a ‘Moral Hazard’. Addiction, 117(11), 2901-2911.

7 Pandika, D., et al. (2022). Young Adult Opioid Misuse Indicates a General Tendency Toward Substance
Use and is Strongly Predicted by General Substance Use Risk. Drug and Alcohol Dependence, 235,
109442

8 Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration. (2024). 2023 National Survey on Drug Use
and Health Detailed Tables. Table 5.24B.

9 Guido, M. R., et al. (2024). Limited Acceptance of Buprenorphine in Recovery Residences in South
Florida: A Secret Shopper Survey. Journal of Substance Use and Addiction Treatment, 168, 209535.

10 Stewart, T., et al. (2025). Certified Recovery Residences Secret Shopper Technical Report. Prepared for
the Department of Children and Families by the Florida Center for Prevention Research Under Contract
LH862.

11 Baily, A., et al. (2024). Provision of Medications to Treat Opioid Use Disorder via a Mobile Health Unit: A
Scoping Review. Journal of Substance Use and Addiction Treatment, 164, 209431

12 Weintraub, E., et al. (2021). Mobile Telemedicine for Buprenorphine Treatment in Rural Populations with
Opioid Use Disorder. JAMA Network Open, 4(8), €2118487; Snigdha, P. R., et al. (2024). Willingness to
Utilize a Mobile Treatment Unit in Five Counties at the Epicenter of the US Rural Opioid Epidemic. Journal
of Substance Use Treatment, 159, 209262.

13 L angabeer, J. R., et al. (2020). Geographic Proximity to Buprenorphine Treatment Providers in the U.S.
Drug and Alcohol Dependence, 213, 108131.

14 Lister, J. J., et al. (2020). A Systematic Review of Rural-Specific Barriers to Medication Treatment for
Opioid Use Disorder in the United States. American Journal of Drug and Alcohol Abuse, 46(3), 273-288.

15 Hua-Nguyen, C., et al. (2025). Effectiveness of Educational Interventions in United States Schools to
Prevent Opioid-Related Harms: A Systematic Review. Addictive Behaviors, 163, 108268.

16 Papp, J. & Emerman, C. (2023). Disparities in Emergency Department Naloxone and Buprenorphine
Initiation. Western Journal of Emergency Medicine, 24(4), 710-716.

17 Kilaru, A. S., et al. (2021). Naloxone Prescriptions Following Emergency Department Encounters for
Opioid Use Disorder, Overdose, or Withdrawal. American Journal of Emergency Medicine, 47, 154-157.

18 Chua, K., et al. (2021). Naloxone and Buprenorphine Prescribing Following US Emergency Department
Visits for Suspected Opioid Overdose: August 2019 to April 2021. Annals of Emergency Medicine, 79(3),
225-236.

9 Wills, B., et al. (2025). Impact of an Emergency Department Take-Home Naloxone Program on
Subsequent Overdose and Death. Heliyon, 11(6), e42967.

20 Hill, L. G., et al. (2022). Availability of Buprenorphine/Naloxone Films and Naloxone Nasal Spray in
Community Pharmacies in 11 States. Drug and Alcohol Dependence, 237, 109518.

21 Chua, K., et al. (2021). Naloxone and Buprenorphine Prescribing Following US Emergency Department
Visits for Suspected Opioid Overdose: August 2019 to April 2021. Annals of Emergency Medicine, 79(3),
225-236; Murphy, S. M., et al. (2019). Will Converting Naloxone to Over-the-Counter Status Increase

This draft is for discussion and editing purposes only. 42 |Page



Pharmacy Sales? Health Services Research, 54, 764-772; Huang, Y., et al. (2024). Patients’ Willingness to
Pay for Naloxone: A National Cross-Sectional Survey of Prescription Opioid Users with Chronic Pain in the
US. Journal of the American Pharmacists Association, 64(3), 102062.

22 Reid, J. A, et al. (2025). TIPSTR Statewide Repository for Human Trafficking Data: 2024 Annual Report.
University of South Florida Trafficking in Persons Risk to Resilience Research Lab.

23 Koegler, E., et al. (2022). Traffickers’ Use of Substances to Recruit and Control Victims of Domestic
Trafficking for Sexual Exploitation in the American Midwest. Anti-Trafficking Review, 18, 103-120.

24 Reid, J. A. (2016). Entrapment and Enmeshment Schemes Used by Sex Traffickers. Sexual Abuse, 28(6),
491-511.

25 Reid, J. A. (2018). Sex Trafficking of Girls with Intellectual Disabilities: An Exploratory Mixed Methods
Study. Sexual Abuse, 30(2), 107-131.

26 National Human Trafficking Training and Technical Assistance Center. (2021). Core Competencies for
Human Trafficking Response in Health Care and Behavioral Health Systems. Retrieved from
https://cdn.icmec.org/wp-content/uploads/2021/02/Core-Competencies-on-HT-for-Health-and-Mental-
Health-Fields-2021.pdf; Administration for Children and Families, Family & Youth Services Bureau. (2020).
Human Trafficking Prevention: Strategies for Runaway and Homeless Youth Settings. Retrieved from
https://acf.gov/sites/default/files/documents/fysb/acf _issuebrief htprevention_10202020_final_508.pdf.

27 Schiff, D.M., et al. (2022). Caring for Families Impacted by Opioid Use: A Qualitative Analysis of Integrated
Program Designs. Academic Pediatrics, 22(1), 125-136.

28 Zuccarini, M.M., et al. (2022). The Effect of Peer Support on Treatment Engagement for Opioid Use
Disorder. Journal of the American Psychiatric Nurses Association, 30(3), 709-715.

2% Foglesong, D., et al. (2022). National Practice Guidelines for Peer Support Specialists and Supervisors.
Psychiatric Services, 73(2), 215-218.

30 Harris, M.T.H., et al. (2022) Gender Dynamics in Substance Use and Treatment: A Women's Focused
Approach. The Medical Clinics of North America, 106(1), 219-234.

31 Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. (2019). Essentials for Childhood: Creating Safe, Stable,
Nurturing Relationships and Environments.

82 Chou, J.L., et al. (2020). An Exploration of Mothers' Successful Completion of Family-Centered
Residential Substance Use Treatment. Family Process, 59(3), 1113-1127.

33 Hogue, A., et al. (2021). Family Involvement in Treatment and Recovery for Substance Use Disorders
Among Transition-Age Youth: Research Bedrocks and Opportunities. Journal of Substance Abuse
Treatment, 129, 108402.

34 Stevens, S.J., & Patton, Tara. (1998). Residential Treatment for Drug Addicted Women and Their
Children: Effective Treatment Strategies. Drugs & Society, 13(1-2), 235-249; Wobie, K., Eyler, F. D., Conlon,
M., Clarke, L., & Behnke, M. (1997). Women and Children in Residential Treatment: Outcomes for Mothers
and Their Infants. Journal of Drug Issues, 27(3), 585-606; Knight, D. K., & Wallace, G. (2003). Where Are
the Children? An Examination of Children’s Living Arrangements When Mothers Enter Residential Drug
Treatment. Journal of Drug Issues, 33(2), 305-324; Hughes, P. H., et al. (1995). Retaining Cocaine-Abusing
Women in a Therapeutic Community: The Effect of a Child Live-in Program. American Journal of Public
Health, 85, 1149-1152; Milligan, K., et al. (2011). Length of Stay and Treatment Completion for Mothers with
Substance Abuse Issues in Integrated Treatment Programmes. Drugs: Education, Prevention and Policy,
18(3), 219-227.

35 RAND Corporation. (2023). America’s Opioid Ecosystem: How Leveraging System Interactions Can Help
Curb Addiction, Overdose, and Other Harms.

%6 U.S. Department of Justice, Bureau of Justice Statistics. (2023). Opioid Use Disorder Screening and
Treatment in Local Jails, 2019; Evans, E. A., et al. (2022). Recidivism and Mortality After In-Jail
Buprenorphine Treatment for Opioid Use Disorder. Drug and Alcohol Dependence, 231, 109254.

87 Evans, E. A, et al. (2022). Recidivism and Mortality After In-Jail Buprenorphine Treatment for Opioid Use
Disorder. Drug and Alcohol Dependence, 231, 109254.

This draft is for discussion and editing purposes only. 43 |Page



38 Austin, A. E., et al. (2021). Associations of Housing Stress with Later Substance Use Outcomes: A
Systematic Review. Addictive Behaviors, 123, 107076; Chandler, C. E., et al. (2020). Association of
Housing Stress with Child Maltreatment: A Systematic Review. Trauma, Violence, & Abuse, 23(2), 639-659.

39 Mitchell, O., et al. (2012). Assessing the Effectiveness of Drug Courts on Recidivism: A Meta-Analytic
Review of Traditional and Non-Traditional Drug Courts. Journal of Criminal Justice, 40(1), 60-71.

40 Andraka-Christou, B. & Atkins, D. N. (2021). Whose Opinion Matters about Medications for Opioid Use
Disorder? A Cross-Sectional Survey of Social Norms Among Court Staff. Substance Abuse, 42(4), 735-750.
41 Andraka-Christou, B., et al. (2022). Criminal Problem-Solving and Civil Dependency Court Policies
Regarding Medications for Opioid Use Disorder. Substance Abuse, 43(1), 425-432.

42 Florida Department of Health. (n.d.). Non-Fatal Opioid Overdose Surveillance - 2018 Q4 Report.
Retrieved from www.floridahealth.gov/programs-and-services/opioid-response/fl-dose/_documents/non-
fatal-od-2018-q4.pdf.

4 Won, N. Y., et al. (2023). A Qualitative Analysis of Emergency Medical Services (EMS) Personnel
Experiences and Perceptions Responding to Drug Overdoses in the United States During the COVID-19
Pandemic. Journal of Health Research, 37(4), 270-279.

44 O’ Dare, K. (2025). Ready Responders, Safer Communities: Embedding First Responder Resilience and
Readiness in the Opioid Abatement Framework.

45 Lozano, M., et al. (2025). Vital Signs: Findings from Florida’s 2024 EMS Workforce Statewide Survey.
Florida Center for Emergency Medical Services Research.

46 Lozano, M., et al. (2025). Vital Signs: Findings from Florida’s 2024 EMS Workforce Statewide Survey.
Florida Center for Emergency Medical Services Research.

This draft is for discussion and editing purposes only. 44 |Page



	Meeting Packet 10-22-25 Pages 1-2
	Binder1.pdf
	October 22  2025 SCOA Meeting Agenda1

	9.5.25 Abatement Council Draft Meeting Minutes1
	2025 Annual Report SCOA Final Draft

